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Brandon (New Hope)

John William Brandon, along with his wife, their seven sons, and their seven slaves,
arrived in Fort Brooke from Tishomingo County, Mississippi, on January 20, 1857.
Shortly thereafter they moved to what today is Seffner, and within a year they relocated
to New Hope, the community that would eventually bear his family name. Other early
residents of this locality were Israel Gardner, Jimmie Hendricks, Dan Kelley, William
Parker, and Walter Stanford. The family homesteaded on 160 acres where Mr. Brandon
built a large log house near present day Lithia-Pinecrest Road and State Road 60. The
family raised cattle and pigs and grew corn, cotton, sugar cane, and sweet potatoes.'

After the death of John's wife, Martha (Carson) Brandon, on April 14, 1867, the
Brandons moved to Bartow, Florida, where he married Victoria M. Varn, on September
17, 1868. Within a year they relocated to a farm east of Fort Meade, where he also
operated a grist mill and a general store. Losing his entire life's savings when someone
broke into the store, John Brandon was forced to sell his property, store, and gristmill.
Consequently, in 1874, John Brandon moved back to his homestead in New Hope,
purchased an additional 500 acres, and began raising cattle, hogs, and sheep, as well a
venturing into citrus growing. Shortly after resettling in New Hope, John Brandon
donated the land for a school which served the community until the early 20th century.
In 1878 he also donated the land and building for the Methodist Church and parsonage
and the New Hope cemetery. Eight years later on May 18, 1886, Mr. Brandon passed
away."

The Brandon family's involvement in community affairs did not stop with Mr. Brandon's
death. In the early 1890's the community prospered when the Florida Central and
peninsular Railroad completed a line through New Hope connecting Plant City and
Tampa. New Hope's population totaled 451 settlers in 1890. Because of the railroad,
Victoria Brandon contracted with Charles S. Noble, a Florida Central and Peninsula
Railroad engineer, to plat approximately forty acres of land north of present day State
Road 60, South of Lake Meade, east of Kings Avenue, and west to Parsons Avenue.
Filed on April 24, 1890, the surveyor named the community in honor of John Brandon
and Noble Street for himself. King Street was named after for John R. King, an early
resident who moved to the area from New Albany, Mississippi, in 1881. Victoria Street
was named for Victoria Brandon while Sadie Street was named for Sadie Brandon,
daughter of Victoria and John Brandon. Following in the tradition her husband had set,
Mrs. Brandon donated the street right-of-ways to the county. Along with platting the
town, Mrs. Brandon established a post office for Brandon in her home on September 15,
1890, becoming Brandon's first postmaster."

On May 22, 1890, the Tampa Tribune provided a picturesque view of Brandon when it
wrote:

The new city of Brandon is located ten miles east of Tampa on the
F.C.&P.R.R. The site is on a beautiful, level tract of high pine land, on the
south side of the railroad track, while on the north side of the track is



situated the beautiful orange grove of Mrs. Victoria Brandon, which
nestling between the city and the beautiful circular lake and deep
hammock, on the north-east, is indeed a beautiful picture. The land for the
city, as platted, is of the most fertile pine lands of Florida, with tall, aged,
immense pines rearing their lofty heads to heaven, with here and there a
cluster of beautiful oaks grouped beneath the immense monarchs of the
forest. These deep, cool, shady bowers are truly inviting to the lovers of
nature....The city at present has only a side-track and platforms for
receiving freight, but a depot is promised at an early date. With their
present facilities for shipping, large quantities of vegetables are being
shipped from that point, every week and are constantly increasing. The
passenger trains stop for the accommodation of the traveling public.The
first start toward the building of a city is the erection of a commodious
store house for Messrs. Cone & Johnson's stock of general merchandise,
and Mr. Coe is transferring his saw mill to the new city. A number of
parties have engaged lots for the erection of residences, as it is a delightful
locality, and if proper rates can be secured over the F.C.&P....it will
eventually become a popular locality for the residences of parties doing
business at Tampa in as much as with the present schedule the trains come
into the city early in the morning and go out at night, affording an
opportunity for persons to attend to a day’s work and return at night. But
aside from this latter consideration it is a lovely and healthy place to reside
and is surrounded by a very fertile country which is dotted with large
bearing orange groves and quite a number of young groves, all of which
are in a most prosperous condition. Notwithstanding the freezes during
the past winter the timber and the waters of the lake have protected the
fruit so that even now the lemon and orange trees are laden with the half
grown fruit in quite an abundance. We predict for the young city a bright
future."

The railroad planted the seeds of change for Brandon. Prior to the 1890s, residents had to
travel along sandy or muddy roads to Plant City or Tampa for supplies that they could not
make themselves. When the F.C.&P. decided not to erect a railroad depot, the Brandon
community built one and located it on the northwest corner of Victoria Street and Moon
Ave. After the railroad was completed and the depot built the poor roads could be
avoided. More importantly though, businesses were started in Brandon. Because of the
train, Bloomingdale resident Daniel J. Galvin moved to Brandon, establishing a general
store and becoming postmaster. Combined with Messrs. Cone and Johnson's enterprise,
local businesses diminished the need to travel to Tampa and Plant City for many goods.
By 1911 P.H. Varn operated Brandon's general store and served as the area's postmaster.
Telephones also reached the area by the second decade of the 20th century. During the
height of Florida's land boom, Brandon businesses also prospered. While no longer
serving as postmaster, Varn had moved into the fruit packing industry by 1925. Ralph
MclIntosh became postmaster in 1922 and stayed in the position until he retired in 1958.
The postmaster did not receive a salary, but was paid from a portion of revenues
collected. Fueled by the timber industry around Brandon, Mr. Coe continued to operate



his sawmill where families could go and procure wood to expand or build homes.
Residents could also get their hair cut by C.M Hogan; have their plumbing fixed by J.L.
Brooker; get their cars repaired by W.L. Hone; shop at C.N. Morgan's general store,
Ralph MclIntosh's butcher shop, or W.H. Brown's grocer and feed store; and purchase
land from G.W. Stevens, Brandon's real estate agent.”

Possibly because Brandon did not incorporate all of the older community of New Hope,
Brandon's population in 1900 was 317. By 1910, however, Brandon's population grew to
573. This growth may in part be attributed to Mr. Galvin being elected county
commissioner, during which time the commission improved roads around Brandon.

Most of the residents were farmers. Land in the area sold for approximately $15 or $16
an acre during this era. The typical farm consisted of a few acres of oranges which
served families as a cash crop, a small plot of sugar cane which was turned into syrup and
a portion for candy, and a vegetable garden for home use. Chicken and hogs were raised,
and the family usually kept at least one cow for milk. Other cash crops included peaches
and grapes."'

While the New Hope school continued to operate until it burned down during the 1890s,
other schools opened that serviced the general area, including Limona School, Valrico
School, and Williamson School. A Brandon School was first mentioned in the July 3,
1894, school board minutes. In August, 1901, voters established Brandon Special School
Tax District No. 11, and elected Isaac M. Brandon, J.R. Brooker, and D.W. Yancy as
trustees. Three months later, James H. Brandon donated one square acre of land to the
trustees for the erection of a school. This school has generally been referred to as
"Brandon's first school." Following this, in 1914, the county erected the first of the
"Twin Towers" building on present day McLane Middle School at 306 Knights Avenue.
The second building was erected in 1917, with the first serving as an elementary school
while high school students attend classes in the second structure. Other schools in the
general vicinity were closed and consolidated into the Brandon school. As the

institution grew during the following decades it became a focal point for the Brandon
community where plays, dances, and even movies were shown.""

In 1920, 492 people called Brandon home, including Victoria Brandon. Besides having
served as postmaster and having Brandon platted, Mrs. Brandon also raised her children
and tended her farm. On October 4, 1900 she married Charles C. Sherrill. Mr. Sherill
passed away on June 20, 1917, and Mrs. Brandon died on December 4, 1926. Mrs.
Brandon's community had a population of 1063 in 1930, consisting of 537 males and 526
females, 1041 Whites, and 22 Blacks, with the majority of Whites being U.S. born."™
The reason for the small number of African Americans within Brandon might be revealed
in a 1930s description of the community:

This thriving little community [of Brandon] impresses the visitor with its
cleanliness and good repair of homes.

It has long been noted as a locality in which negroes are forbidden to



settle.

The first home in this town was built in 1856 by John Brandon, for whom
the town was named. In later years Brandon was settled to a great extent
by Northerners.

There is a large district or consolidated school here with a student body of
600, drawn from surrounding territory.™

During the mid-1950s, Hopewell Road (today's State Road 60) was connected to Adamo
Drive. Two additional lanes were added to State Road 60 through Brandon in 1958. This
connection and expansion caused the community to boom, with 5000 people residing in
Brandon in 1957 and 8000 three years later. While the Tampa Tribune's 1890 prediction
of Brandon becoming a bedroom community of Tampa came true, it just took 70 years
longer than expected and the transformation occurred because of automobiles and not the
train. Brandon's population in 1975 was estimated to be about 45,000, second in growth
to the area surrounding the University of South Florida. Neighborhoods sprung up north
and south of State Road 60, and in the process Brandon swallowed up such communities
as Bloomingdale, Dover, Durant, Lithia, Limona, Mango, Seffner, and Valrico. This
greater Brandon area included 106,000 residents, supporting over 150 churches, and more
than 5000 businesses. With such growth, people began to grumble about traffic along
State Road 60 during the 1970s, and the grumbling (for good reason) continues to this
day. *
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